
 
To preserve and enhance the unique village character of Laguna Beach 

P. O. Box 1309   Laguna Beach, California 92652   villagelaguna.org 

 
December 24. 2024 
 
RE: Historical Significance of the Neighborhood Congregational Church 
 
Village Laguna asked architectural historian Francesca Smith to evaluate the Neighborhood 
Congregational Church property at 340 St. Ann’s Dr. In the attached evaluation she finds the 
three related, contributing buildings eligible for the California Register of Historical Resources 
under Criterion 3 and for the Laguna Beach Historic Register under Criteria 3, 5, 6, 7 and 9. 
 
Village Laguna’s mission is to preserve and enhance the unique “village character” of Laguna 
Beach. Like many Lagunans, we lament the possible loss of this historic property, noting that it 
is beautiful, well-designed, and important to the community. We wanted to learn as much as 
possible about its history and significance. Our goal is to foster appreciation of the historic 
buildings by the community, city leaders, the developer and church members. 
 
The buildings on the site were constructed between 1948 and 1963 and include a parsonage 
(now the Montessori School), Bridge Hall and the Sanctuary. The buildings on the property 
embody the distinctive characteristics of three architecture types—Minimal Traditional, Tudor 
Revival and Mid-Century Modern with Organic/Expressionist-influences—and represent the 
work of two important creative individuals: Aubrey St. Clair and Bill Blurock. Both were local 
architects whose substantial bodies of work influenced the built environment of Laguna Beach 
and southern California. Extraordinary artistic values are expressed as well in the Mogens Abel 
and Harold Eckman wood carvings. The property is directly associated with the spiritual, 
communal, collaborative educational and historical development of Laguna Beach. 
 
Francesca Smith is an architectural historian with decades of experience successfully 
nominating properties for local, state, and national designations. The State of California has 
recognized her as “professionally qualified staff” at its highest level, as a Principal Architectural 
Historian. Her Professional Qualifications are in both History and Architectural History (see 
https://www.nps.gov/articles/sec-standards-prof-quals.htm).  
 
In addition to Smith’s report we attach photographs by Greg O’Loughlin and Hunter Fuentes, 
and a 1984 brochure by the Memorial Committee describing the Symbols and Memorials of the 
Church in detail.  Of special note is the summary of items and features and their donors on the 
second to last page.  Many items memorialize donor’s loved ones.  For example, the large blue 
glass panels in the Narthex, a prominent feature of the church, were donated by Bette Davis in 
memory of Ruth Favor Davis, her mother.    
 
Neighborhood Congregational Church is not a collection of generic buildings primed for 
demolition to make way for the next development. They are an expression of the values and 
aspirations of the congregation over decades.  Members’ commitment to design, quality and 
treasured embellishments achieved an inspiring spiritual complex. The entire community has 
come together there on important occasions. Memories of weddings, memorial services, musical 
performances and other cultural events are treasured by thousands of Lagunans. 
    
We hope this report will contribute to a church, community and developer discussion and 
decision to retain buildings while accommodating other beneficial uses on the property.  
 

 
 
Anne Caenn, President 



DPR 523A (1/95) *Required information 

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary #  
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI # 
PRIMARY RECORD Trinomial  
 NRHP Status Code 3CS, 5S2  
 Other Listings  
 Review Code Reviewer    Date 
Page  1 of  12                                      Resource name(s) or number(assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church 
P1.  Other Identifier:  340-344 St. Ann’s Drive 

*P2.  Location:   Not for Publication    Unrestricted    
*a. County    Orange 

 *b. USGS 7.5’ Quad         Laguna Beach Date: 2015 
 *c. Address   340-344 St. Ann’s Drive  City Laguna Beach Zip 92651 

*d. Latitude/Longitude Coordinates:    Latitude: 33.53798, Longitude: -117.77774 
*e. Other Locational Data: Orange County Tax Assessor’s Property Number 644-034-05 

*P3a.  Description:   The subject property is an irregularly configured parcel that contains three buildings related to the 
Neighborhood Congregational Church, the Parsonage, Parish Hall and Church (refer to Photographs 1-3 on page 3 and 4).  The 
main portion of the Parish Hall and Church buildings are each rectangular in plan, roughly equal in sizes and feature very different 
incarnations of front-facing, gabled roofs.  The two are joined at the street front and back by an open, side gabled breezeway in the 
front, creating a central, open courtyard.  The back of the paved, rectangular courtyard is a connecting, two-story “leg” of the Parish 
Hall.  The Parsonage is setback from the street at the approximate center of the lot, toward the rear of the Parish Hall, and has a 
front-facing, gabled roof as well.  The complex is set on a slope, with the Church at the uppermost corner of St. Ann’s and 
Glenneyre. The graceful modernist church is the newest but is arguably the most prominent building in the complex. 
The rectangular Parsonage is a one story, Minimal Traditional style building with a medium sloped roof and a shed-roofed 
extension on the west side at the recessed entrance.  The building is not plainly visible from St Ann’s Drive, because of the deep 
setback and a high, wood fence that surrounds the L-shaped play area that wraps around the Parsonage to the front of the Parish 
Hall. Its Minimal Traditional character-defining features are its single-story height, the medium-pitched gabled roof, its 
overhanging eaves, the three-part wood sash window on the recessed entrance porch, the porch, which is supported by plain, 
painted wood posts, the simple stucco exterior wall finish and the brick end-wall chimney and restrained ornamentation.  Also 
characteristic of the style, there is a small, abutting garage with a low sloping roof.  The simple style was popular between the late 
1930s and approximately 1950, concurrent with and terminating during southern California’s exponential Post-War population 
growth.  The Parsonage is primarily accessed from the paved parking lot via a curved concrete exterior stair with a square, extruded 
railing that leads to an entrance porch.    See Continuation Sheet, page 3 
 *P3b.  Resource Attributes:  (list attributes and codes) HP16. Religious building; HP13. Community center/social hall;               
HP15. Educational building  
*P4.  Resources Present:   Building   Structure   Object      Site   District   Element of District   Other 

*P5b. Photo: (view and date)  
View northwest, January 2023.   
*P6.  Date Constructed/Age and 
Sources:  historic 
Church- 1963, newspaper article; 
Parish Hall- 1950 building permit 
(BP);                                                
Parsonage and garage- 1948, BP 
*P7.  Owner and Address: 
Neighborhood Congregational 
Church 
340 St. Ann’s Drive 
Laguna Beach, CA 92651 
*P8.  Recorded by: 
Francesca Smith for Village Laguna 
PO Box 1309 
Laguna Beach, CA 92652  
*P9.  Date Recorded:  
November 28, 2024 
*P10.  Survey Type: Intensive 

*P11.  Report Citation: 
Village Laguna. Local Landmark Nomination for Neighborhood Congregational Church, Laguna Beach, 2024. 

*Attachments: None  Location Map  Sketch Map    Continuation Sheet  Building, Structure, and Object Record 
Archaeological Record  District Record  Linear Feature Record  Milling Station Record  Rock Art Record 
Artifact Record  Photograph Record  Other (list)  

P5a.  Photo or Drawing  (Photo required for buildings, structures, and objects.) 
 

 
 



 

DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information 
 

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 
 
BUILDING, STRUCTURE, AND OBJECT RECORD 
Page   2   of  12                                                                                                       *NRHP Status Code 3CS; 5S2 

                                                  *Resource Name or # Neighborhood Congregational Church  
B1.     Historic name:            Neighborhood Congregational Church  
B2.     Common name:         NCC 
B3.   Original Use:             parsonage and garage, parish hall and church     B4.  Present use: school, parish hall and church  

*B5. Architectural Style:   Minimal Traditional, English and Tudor Revival Mid-Century Modern, Expressionist/Organic 
subtypes 
*B6. Construction History:  Parsonage (726 Glenneyre) completed in 1948 (BP #10609, February 25, 1948); Parish Hall built 1950 
(BP #12024, May 25, 1950); Church built 1963 (“Church Dedication Ceremonies Feb. 3” South Coast News. January 29, 1963). Backlit 
wood cross added to Church c. 1982 (Robert Hench, AIA. rev. March 15, 1982: 1).  Fire-damaged roof of church repaired in 1995. Tile 
art work added to retaining wall (Mike Tauber, artist, BP Application, 2018). Garage door replaced, various signs, fence added 
(dates unknown).  
 *B7. Moved?      No o Yes o Unknown Date:  Original Location: 
*B8. Related Features:  surface parking lot 
B9a.  Architect: NA; Aubrey St. Clair; Blurock, Ellerbroek Associates   Builder: John H. Rudesill; E.F. Grandy; Alvin Clemence 

*B10. Significance:  Theme:  design  Area:  Laguna Beach  
  Period of Significance:  1947-1963    Property Type:  church          Applicable Criteria:  CR 3, LBHR 3, 5, 6, 7 and 9 

(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope.  Also address integrity) 
The Neighborhood Congregational Church complex was built between 1948 and 1963.  Its three main built components are the 
Parsonage, Parish Hall and Church.  The Parsonage was built in 1948 as “six rooms and a garage,” by John Rudesill, a Santa Ana-
based contractor (BP #10609, February 25, 1948).  The estimated cost was $13,000 (ibid).  The Parish Hall (now Bridge Hall) was 
designed by local architect, Aubrey St. Clair and built by Laguna-based E.F. Grandy (BP #12024).  It was completed in 1950 for a 
reported $77,000 (ibid).  The final contributing resource, the Church was built in 1963 for an estimated $210,000 (“Church 
Dedication Ceremonies Feb. 3”). The project architects, Blurock, Ellerbroek Associates and general contractor, Alvin Clemence 
were based in nearby Corona del Mar. 
Under its first pastor, Richard R. Morgan, the congregation was established in the spring of 1943, during the second World War.  
The Los Angeles Congregational Association recognized a handful of founding members who gathered “above the Sandpiper bar” 
on South Coast Highway (“Church Members to Attend Fire: Burning of Mortgage Set” South Coast News. July 8, 1960 and Bradley 
Zint. “Progressive Laguna Beach Church Celebrates 75 Years” Los Angeles Times. March 7, 2018).  In 1947, the subject property, 340-
344 St. Ann’s Drive was acquired for a reported $25,000 (Zint).  The Parsonage and garage were technically located at 726 
Glenneyre and were sometimes referred to as “the manse,” but those references may have been in jest (Figure 1 on page 6). 
After the simple pastor’s residence was completed in 1948, a Building Committee was appointed to develop a vision for the 
growing organization’s future. 
See Continuation Sheet, page 6 
 
B11. Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes)  

 
*B12. References:   
See pages 11 and 12. 
 
B13. Remarks:  none 
 
*B14. Evaluator 
*Date of Evaluation:   
  

Sketch Map   subject property in red, no scale     á  N 

  
 



DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial#
Page  3   of  12 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church
*Recorded by:  F. Smith *Date:  November 28, 2024 Continuation Update 

*P3a.  Description:   Continued from page 1  The building is oriented facing Glenneyre, and the terrain is sloped, so steps are
flanked by moderate height retaining walls finished in plaster (Photograph 1). The front door is located on the return wall of the
porch.  Wood sash windows are punched and have screens.
The windows are hung, with two lights over four, configured as 2-2-2 (two panes of glass, over two, over two).  There is a flagpole 
adjacent to the front porch and a carved, painted wood school sign is affixed to the porch rail.  There is a four-sided metal and glass 
carriage lamp set atop a post at the foot of the stairs. Known exterior alterations include the addition of the painted wood, 
decorative porch railing and gate (with wood lattice), the likely addition of continuous rain gutters, replacement of the original 
garage door and the enclosure of the large play yard in a painted wood, dog ear fence (estimated post-2007, other dates unknown). 
Like the other buildings in the complex, the Parsonage and garage retain integrity to their original location, their setting, which 
evolved since 1950 but remains as it was by 1963, the prim original Minimal Traditional design remains recognizable, as does the 
late 1940s workmanship, its original building materials, as well as the village feeling and its association with the Neighborhood 
Congregational Church for which it was built.  

Sketch Map 2: Neighborhood Congregational Church, aerial 
view.  Contributing buildings and courtyard as noted.  North 
is oriented to top of page. Bing.com 2024. 

Photograph 1: Parsonage and garage, view northeast of entry stair 
from subject property parking lot. All photographs by F. Smith, 
November 2024 unless otherwise noted. 

The Parish Hall is one-and-a-half stories from the front and two stories on the east and northwest sides.  It has a high-ceilinged main 
floor with a partially subterranean basement.  The building design is a late example of English and Tudor Revival styles. For 
Laguna Beach, however, it is not a particularly late instance of the combined architectural styles. Its English Revival characteristics 
are the various steeply pitched and cross-gabled roofs, decorative half-timbering at the gables (intended to look like wattle-and-
daub exposed framing), a shared indicator of Tudor Revival style, the prominent, endwall brick chimney with stepped chimney 
pots and a collar, narrow multi-light windows, its entry porch, and the overhanging gables and second story. The front gable, in the 
tradition of English churches terminates at the roof ridge in a bellcote (Photograph 2).  The bellcote contains an arched opening with 
a church bell.  It is set on low, sloped shoulders and is capped by a diminutive, front gabled roof.  The main gable has a narrow, 
central window. The Parish ( Bridge) Hall has a main, narrow, pointed, arched, leaded glass window at the center of the main 
façade bay.  That lancet window features a quatrefoil in bar tracery at the head, with two pointed leaves below.  The simple lozenge 
(diamond paned), leaded glass lancet window is executed in various shades of purple, blue and green glass.  Below the central 
window, unequal lower-level windows serve the lower level.  Those windows are all steel sashed with multi-lights, but the paired 
casement is tall and narrow (3-3-3-3-3-3) and the other window is shorter and wide, with four operable leaves, each three wide and 
four high.  Fitting the English-inspired style, the windows are all deeply inset with stepped-out, tapered classical lintels (only on 
façade and back side of building) and deep, angled sills. 



DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial#
Page  4   of  12 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church
*Recorded by:  F. Smith *Date:  November 28, 2024 Continuation Update 

*P3a.  Description:   Continued from page 3

Photograph 2: Parish Hall, view northwest from subject 
property front yard.  Bell tower is obscured by mature trees. 

Photograph 3: Parish Hall, view northwest from driveway on St Ann’s. 
Brick chimney is centered on half-timbered bay. 

The front gable roof intersects with stepped-out bays on the northeast side and extended, gabled wings at each end (Photograph 3). 
The front, side main gable is finished in decorative half-timbering and has simple side louvres.  Windows on the south side are 
irregularly placed, according to interior uses.  The fenestration consists of paired steel-sashed, two-wide, five-light-high casement 
windows.  

At the “back” of the Parish Hall, 
the northwest elevation is visible 
from Glenneyre and contains the 
most Tudor-style detail that 
imparts animation to what could 
have been a nearly blank wall 
(Photograph 4).  The northeast bay 
has a simplified colored, lozenge, 
leaded glass, lancet window. The 
cantilevered, side-gabled, main 
floor back wall runs across part of 
the building length and is 
supported on painted wood 
corbels.  Its windows are primarily 
paired sets, with a balanced, 
smaller set of one casement on 
each side, quaintly bisected by the 
half-timbered finish.  The partially 
below-grade first floor has wider 
sets of four casement windows 
each, which visually establish the 
base of the composition. There are 
two inset, flat arched wood doors 
and a deeply recessed stairwell 
that leads to the courtyard.   

Photograph 4: Parish Hall at left, view southeast from parking lot.  Note the half-timbered gable with 
lancet window the far left.  It also features has a cantilevered, half-timbered main floor rear wall and 
complex intersecting roof forms. The asymmetrical Mid-Century Modern Church is at right side, its 
central, full-length windows jut outboard conjuring the bow of a ship.  Photograph by Aaron Schrank 
for KCRW, permission pending.  Not for publication. 



DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial#
Page  5   of  12 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church
*Recorded by:  F. Smith *Date:  November 28, 2024 Continuation Update 

*P3a.  Description:   Continued from page 4
Although the Church is an entirely different design style, the architecture of the Church and Parish Hall visually coalesce and
materially connect seamlessly (Photograph 4).

The dramatic Mid-Century Modern style Church 
building displays integral elements of Organic and 
Expressionist styles as well. Its Mid-Century and 
Expressionist/Organic features include its soaring 
shape, the simple massing, use of geometric forms, 
irregularly shaped, steeply angled roof with 
overhanging eaves and angled “widows’ peaks” at each 
end.  Character-defining features include the simple 
wall finishes, brick, painted wood and plaster that also 
serve as subtle accent materials, the predominantly 
hidden windows and doors, and the overall restrained 
exterior decorative detailing. The Expressionist subtype 
is expressed in its sculptural form, limited front and 
street side fenestration, and deeply recessed entrance at 
the courtyard. Organic elements are its deceptive 
simplicity; the limited use of few materials (painted 
wood, plaster, brick and roof); the exceptionally bold, 
surprisingly asymmetric shape; and the sense of 
privacy afforded to worshippers and celebrants inside 
the sanctuary.   

Photograph 5: Church, view northeast from Glenneyre. Note the soaring, 
asymmetrical roof form and nearly full- length skylight at the ridge of the 
roof.  The front roof plane extends to nearly meet finished grade.  The roof has 
rain diverters near the eaves to avoid the necessity for gutters, which would 
change the simplicity of the design. Narrow front and side windows are inset 
behind “floating” brick walls.  Tiled retaining wall is in foreground. Google 
Maps September 2019.  

The concealed front and side windows offer a 
controlled appearance to the street, which 
strongly contrasts with the open orientation at 
the narthex end of the Church that is expressed in 
an expansive full-height window bay 
(Photograph 5). An open, interior stairwell leads 
to the sanctuary from concealed doors on either 
side. 
The front elevation is dominated by the 
remarkable, asymmetrical, front-facing, gabled 
roof (Photograph 6).  The shingled roof  front and 
back of the building overhangs deeply at the 
center, forming chevrons or widows’ peaks at the 
ridges.  The wide fascia and stucco-finished eaves 
that increase toward the top enhance the effects 
of those deep peaks.  The central bay facing St. 
Ann’s is a “floating” Roman brick-finished wall. 
Set outboard of the stucco main wall, the full-
height buff, velour brick alludes to a steeple but 
further serves as a barrier to the concealed 
vertical windows inset behind the panel on each 
side.  The recessed windows are behind the 
masonry wall, arranged five to a group, as 1-1-1-
1-1.

Photograph 6: Church, view northeast from Glenneyre. Note the soaring, asymmetric 
roof form and nearly full-length skylight at the ridge of the roof.  The front roof plane 
extends on the left side to nearly meet finished grade.  Narrow front and side 
windows are inset behind a “floating” brick wall. The simple shaped wood crucifix 
designed by a Blurock partner and was added in 1982.  Note the seamless connection 
between the breezeway roof and the church roof.  Google Maps September 2012. 

At the foot of the masonry wall, “1962” is inscribed in a natural stone, inset on the inland side.  Centered and set high on the brick, 
a deceptively simple, shaped, stepped wood crucifix is affixed on standouts.  During daylight hours, the stepped cross forms deep 
shadows.  At night, the slim form is backlit, imparting the subtle but nonetheless evident message of Christianity (Photograph 6). 
The open breezeway connecting the Parish Hall has a low, gable-on-hip roof that intersects with the tall Church roof and connects 
the different forms effortlessly.  The main roof return intersects in a side-facing, with a stucco-finished wall embellished simply 
with metal letters spelling out the name of the congregation and partially encloses the courtyard.  The breezeway is supported the 
Church and the Parish House on each side with slim, painted wood, multi-sided posts only where necessary.   



DPR 523L (1/95) *Required information

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial#
Page  6   of  12 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church
*Recorded by:  F. Smith *Date:  November 28, 2024 Continuation Update 

*P3a.  Description:   Continued from page 5       At the Church, an unexpected angled, stucco “box” transept subtly reminds users 
that the sanctuary is entered through paired doors facing the parking lot.  The side-facing Glenneyre elevation is visually 
dominated by the full-width, sloped, nearly full-length roof plane.  The apparent mass of the vast roof is reduced by shorter eave 
length that terminates just beyond the front bay.  Toward the front, a wide roof extension nearly reaches finished grade, protecting 
a blind stucco wall that forms the other side of the transept.  The use of rain diverters avoids the necessity for rain gutters, which 
would impair the tightly controlled, spare design aesthetic.
Past the understated transept bay, four slim, brick floating buttress forms step outboard of the wall, protecting lower vertical 
windows neatly hidden in the returns, in stacked, single light sets. The simple brick buttress shapes correspond to the masonry on 
the main bay as well as the courtyard side of the Parish Hall.  That masonry is elegantly finished on the ends, reinforcing the 
painstaking attention to detail demonstrated in the Church design.
The clever pedestrian entrance bay from the sidewalk is raised on a plain, low, retaining walls with a planted strip and terminates 
at Roman brick planters that mark the modest entrance.  A plain, internally illuminated box sign with a white Plexiglas face set into 
the north planter quietly announces the property’s use.  The deceptively simple rear elevation has central full-height, wood-framed 
windows, with deep blue, purple and green, colored, rectangular glass set in deep, vertical, continuous mullions
(Photograph 6).  That enormous two-story window forms a wide V in plan and establishes the striking visual statement made by 
the north side of the church.  Painted, routed, vertical wood siding flanks the large window in deep recesses.  On each side, metal 
panels mounted on standouts in simple, bisected shield forms, function as custom door handles, which only allude to the double 
doors’ presence on each side.  The doors almost disappear, set into the continuous, finished vertical panels, in plane.  The doors are 
quietly announced by vertical sets of smaller sculpted panels, in the same pointed shapes that form vertical courses to the roof 
eave.  Each of the panels contain bas relief, contemporary symbols of Christianity: stylized anchors (representing hope, security, 
safety) and olive leaves at the doors and the 12 apostles, scallop shells (pilgrimage, journey), a sailing ship, three bags of gold, a 
crucifix, a saw and three trowels. Across the back of the complex, the walkway is paved in both brick and concrete.  There are 
equally spaced, four-sided carriage lamps on posts that correspond to the Parsonage lamps along the parking lot retaining wall.
The simple courtyard or cloister (Philip E. Gregory Patio) that is formed by the Parish Hall back offices and Church arcade is paved 
in scored concrete.  It has small tree wells with low scale trees and bushes, and beds planted in flowering shrubs and bushes that 
parallel the sides of the buildings.  The Parish Hall side has paired, single-light French doors with transoms, alternating with 
stepped plaster buttresses.  A Tudor-arched, painted wood, set of paneled entrance doors with nine colored glass lights (3-3-3) are 
set deeply into the wall beneath the stucco-ceilinged breezeway.  The breezeway is paved in quarry tile.  At the back of the 
courtyard, a deeply recessed painted wood truss is set on a turned wood post which leads to stairs that connect the rear of the 
buildings and parking lot. The Church side of the courtyard has full- and partial height windows and doors.
The retaining wall along Glenneyre is clad in an elaborate tile installation.  The retaining wall is tallest at the lowest point on the 
slope, and the tiles are color-blocked in various color groups and patterns that develop between different shades of the same colors 
that overlap into other colors.
Alterations have been minimal since the complex was completed in 1963. Electronic carillon bells were added in the 1970s.  The 
compatible, back-lit, natural wood cross was added to the church façade on St. Ann’s in 1982. In 1995 the roof of the Church was 
repaired following a fire.  The tile was added to the retaining wall in 2018. A dog-eared fence was built to enclose the school play 
areas and various signs were added (years unknown).  The Neighborhood Congregational Church complex retains remarkably 
high integrity to its appearance when it was completed in 1963.
*B10. Significance: Continued from  page 2     The street that became St. Ann’s Drive was known as Euterpe Street until about

1945 (Sanborn Fire Insurance Co Map of Laguna Beach, CA. 1925, updated to 1949).  
Neighborhood Congregational Church ministers used the Glenneyre address 
until the Church was completed in 1963.  The year after the Minimal Traditional 
style parsonage was completed, the congregation’s then-new pastor, Dr. Philip 
Gregory commissioned Aubrey St. Clair to design a significant complex… for his 
growing flock. St. Clair drew plans for a large, two-story structure that included a 
spacious parish hall with a unique beamed ceiling, a wood-paneled library 
centered on a fireplace, Sunday School classrooms, a full-sized kitchen, offices 
and storage space. This building is very English in both appearance and 
ambience. The South Coast News reported that the cornerstone was laid …[in] 
1950. The parish hall served as both a social gathering place and the primary 
worship space for the next dozen years  

Figure 1: Original Parsonage property annotated 
in red. North as indicated. Excerpted Sanborn 
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Fire Insurance Co Map of Laguna Beach, CA. sheet 
10 October 1925, updated to 1949. 

State of California ¾ The Resources Agency Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION HRI# 

CONTINUATION SHEET Trinomial#
Page  7   of  12 *Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) Neighborhood Congregational Church
*Recorded by:  F. Smith *Date:  November 28, 2024                 Continuation  Update
B10. Significance: Continued from page 6   (Ann Christoph. “Setting the Scene for Art and Architecture” Laguna Beach
Independent. Mar 9, 2007).
The Parish Hall was designed in 1950, which is comparatively late for the Tudor Revival style, but its small-scale and level of
building detail is exceptionally compatible with the established village character of Laguna Beach. Aubrey St. Clair was a southern
California and local architect who commenced his busy practice in the 1920s (“Granted Certificates” The Architect and Engineer.
January 1929: 112).
An expert described the design portfolio of Aubrey St. Clair as having “set the tone and style for what… [became] the best qualities
of Laguna Beach’s village character” (Foster J. Eubank and Gene Felder. Laguna Beach Then & Now. (Charleston: Arcadia Books)
2013: 19).  St. Clair (1889-1968) was the notably the son of artist Norman St. Clair.  The elder St. Clair was a Pasadena-based “early
California impressionist painter whose 1904 watercolors of Laguna Beach scenes are credited with helping establish the town as an
art colony” (Christoph 2007). The family lived in Pasadena, but like many in their social group, maintained a summer cottage in
Laguna Beach after 1903.  In 1924 Aubrey St. Clair helped his film producer brother, Malcolm St. Clair with the Cotswold-inspired,
Storybook style Laguna Beach home at 489 Pearl Street. By 1962 Aubrey St. Clair and his wife owned 424 Jasmine Street, which he
designed in 1929 (“Wedding Jubilees” Los Angeles Times. July 21, 1963: 182).  He also designed 432 Jasmine in 1929, but that
building has been altered (date unknown).  424 Jasmine and the other St. Clair home on Pearl Street each contribute to local historic
districts (California, State of. “Built Environment Resource Directory, Laguna Beach” or BERD 2024).  Like his parents, St. Clair
made his home in Pasadena (and Altadena after 1931) but retained a residence in Laguna Beach during his adult life.
His varied body of work included at least 27 buildings, 57 residences and 13 remodels in Laguna Beach.  Among St Clair’s local
projects, there were numerous public commissions of note, including Laguna Beach Water District Building (1927, 306 Third
Street), Laguna Beach Fire Department (1931, 501 Forest Avenue) Laguna Beach City Hall (1951, 505 Forest Avenue, with Wilfred
Verity), Laguna Beach Library (1938, 363 Glenneyre Avenue, no longer extant) and Pump House on Temple Hills (pre-1934, 329 S.
Pacific Coast Highway).  The Laguna Water District, the Fire Department and City Hall buildings were each included in the
Laguna Beach Historic Survey in the Historic Resources Inventory Index (1982) and are contributors to a local historic district.
During his practice, which included periods working in construction trades, there were more than ten known properties St. Clair
designed elsewhere in southern California.  One was Woodbury Well in Pasadena (1930, 1879 East Walnut Street), designated a
local landmark in 2007.  St. Clair designed residences at 1049 and 1250 N. Holliston Ave., also in Pasadena (1925 and 1924). Those
properties each contribute to the significance of the Bungalow Heaven Landmark District, which was designated in 1989.  All three
of the referenced Pasadena St. Clair buildings are considered “presumptive” historical resources for the purposes of the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) based on their local designation.  One other Pasadena property, 787 S. Euclid Avenue, was
designed by St. Clair and completed in 1926. That property contributes to the significance of the identified but undesignated
Madison Heights Landmark District (Pasadena, City of. https://www.mhnapasadena.org/landmarkmap, accessed on November
22, 2024). The four known properties in Pasadena are considered significant for their architecture, which further bolsters St. Clair’s
reputation for architectural expertise in design beyond Laguna Beach.
St. Clair’s body of work was not limited to public and commercial buildings or to upscale homes.  He developed plans for an
affordable modern housing model which were displayed at the Architects’ Building Material Exhibit in Los Angeles in 1931 as well
as at least two multi-family buildings in Laguna and another in Belmont Shore (Long Beach).  He notably designed an
Amphitheater for the Laguna Beach Festival of the Arts at 650 Laguna Canyon Road in 1939 according to the Los Angeles Times
(March 29, 1938).
Aubrey St. Clair designed in a wide range of idioms ranging from Art Deco to Streamline Moderne and Minimal Traditional styles.
He was best known, however, for his Eclectic Period Revival style work, which encompassed Spanish Colonial Revival,
Mediterranean Revival, Tudor and English Revival.  Those Eclectic Period Revival styles were in vogue in the region primarily
between the two World Wars, and differed among a wide variety of European influences, including Dutch Colonial, Franch
Eclectic, Chateauesque, Italian, Mediterranean and Spanish.  There were American subtypes in the genre as well: Neoclassical,
Colonial, Mission and Monterey Revivals and other inspirations including Moorish and Egyptian Revival.
Tudor Revival style examples in the U.S. are generally influenced by the Elizabethan period. They commonly have plaster (stucco)
exterior walls and often incorporate masonry details, such as ornamental stonework or brick work. The style evokes images of
small communities in the British Isles, or in the English countryside and can artfully be used to reduce the scale of large buildings.
While not every Tudor Revival style building has the distinctive half-timbering feature exhibited in the Parish Hall, most examples
have similar massing and feature Medieval English-inspired, decorative details.  These features are characterized by overhanging
gables and second stories, decorative chimneys, lozenge, leaded glass, casement windows, round-arched and Tudor-arched
exterior doors and steep roofs.  The Tudor Revival style’s popularity waned by approximately 1940 as Modernist principles took
form, but the style remains in use and is widely considered to be picturesque and charming.
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 B10. Significance: Continued from page 7   When St. Clair designed the Parish Hall for the Neighborhood Congregational 
Church, he had the foresight, combined with the benefit of an educated clientele, to make accommodations for and to design the 
future church and breezeway addition (Figure 2).  With the future addition, he created a central courtyard, as well as the 
connecting wings.  The land designated for the church was graded at that time, to the correct level for its future use. 

  

Figure 2: Annotated plan view of subject 
property with Parsonage roofline outlined in 
purple and the Parish Hall in blue. The “future 
[Church] addition” is at the bottom of the 
image in a dashed green line and highlight.  
North is oriented to about 11 o’clock. Aubrey 
St. Clair, 1951. 

The interior space that would be contained between the Parish Hall and the future Church was to be a reasonably narrow 
rectangle, but as built, the courtyard was somewhat wider than originally planned.   
Despite the fact that St. Clair prepared a traditional design for the future church, when the time came, the Building Committee 
chose William E. Blurock as its designer.  “Bill” Blurock was born in Oregon in 1922 but grew up in Los Angeles and graduated 
from the University of Southern California in 1947. By 1950, he was married, worked as a draftsman and lived in Laguna Beach.  
Three years later he joined what became Pleger, Blurock Hougan & Ellerbroek in Corona del Mar, becoming a partner in 1958.   
In the late 1950s and early 1960s, the firm was responsible the designs for at least three schools in the growing community of 
Tustin. They were Tustin Union High School in 1958, Tustin Middle School 1959 and Sycamore School 1962.  In 1961, Blurock, 
Ellerbroek & Associates received an award for the design of the Corona del Mar High School (“Architect Here Cited for Design of 
High School” South Coast News. March 31, 1961: 11). It was completed in 1962.  They designed Estancia High School in Conta Mesa 
in 1965.  In the mid-1960s they teamed with a Houston-based architecture and engineering giant for the Cypress College campus.  
That work led to later collaborations on Pacific Amphitheater, Orange County Performing Arts Center, Shoreline Amphitheater 
(Mountain View) and numerous smaller theaters.   
The firm designed numerous other churches, including First Presbyterian Church of Upland, 1952, St. Paul’s Episcopal Church, 
1964 (also in Tustin) and Community Presbyterian Church 1967 (Cathedral City). The firm joined with Richard Neutra, Robert 
Alexander and Garrett Eckbo in the 1950s to design the evolving campus for Orange Coast College, eventually taking over the 
commission in the 1970s. They did work at Stanford University and later were part of the team responsible for planning the 
University of California, Irvine, designing the Student Center (Susan Berkman. “Architects See More Theaters in the Future” Los 
Angeles Times. September 14, 1986).  With his firm, by the close of his career, Blurock had worked all over the world, making his 
name in varied specialties, but was known primarily for campus designs.  He died in 2012, but his firm, The Blurock Partnership, 
which later became tBP/Architecture, currently maintains three offices in California (Therese Bissell. “Architecture News- William 
E. Blurock: 1922-2012” Architectural Record. 2012). 
Expressionist concepts of the Church are embodied in its bold sculptural form, its radical angled geometrical orientation of and 
controlled interior volumes. The hidden main church entrances clearly impart the concept of privacy.  Some of the Organic 
features coincide with those of other identified styles, but include the bold design intent of the Church, use of natural wood and 
masonry materials and the studied absence of applied ornamentation.  The careful design including its intentional natural siting  
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 B10. Significance: Continued from page 8    make the Church seem to have emerged from the ground. 
The citation received from the American School Administrators described the future high school campus in Corona del Mar using 
words that closely corresponded to the new Neighborhood Congregational Church design and the reasons for the architect’s 
success.  They called it “a realistic approach to flexible design… [with] good relationships between units” (ibid). The unquestion-
ably Modern Church design is unusually compatible with the otherwise traditional campus design.  The rectangular, front-gabled 
Church parallels the established orientation of the Parish Hall, and its seemingly blind façade matches that of the other building.   
Both Blurock and Aubrey St. Clair designed facilities for the locally and regionally significant Festival of the Arts, although their 
work was separated by decades, between 1939 and 1963. Their shared commitment to the community is embodied in that work. 
The new sanctuary was built to accommodate 400 worshippers, but its enormous interior volume was concealed in the sloping 
hillside, terminating at the backside, facing the parking lot.  Both buildings notably feature exposed interior trusses, but their 
materials, architectural language and ultimate expressions are varied. The use of trusses enables large, interrupted interior spaces 
and high ceilings.  The interior of Bridge Hall features exposed, decorative scissors trusses, with central queen posts. That truss 
type is not surprisingly, considered traditional and has generally a maximum span of less than 80 feet (Photograph 7). The ceiling 
of the earthy, English-inspired room is dark, stained wood and walls are painted plaster.  
The Church sanctuary roof and linear skylight are dramatically supported on massive, stained wood “glulam” (glued, laminated 
timber) arches that create a modern, loadbearing, exposed frame (Photograph 8).  The widely spaced, shaped ribs form the 
enormous open interior of the sanctuary in giant spans. The glulam arches are straight-sided on the exterior, forming wide, fixed 
angles where they connect to the exterior walls, roof and skylight (Photograph 9). The “inside” of the arches are gracefully curved 
shapes which taper to delicate points where they touch at the central, continuous roof apex.  The effect is dramatic and produces 
the collective consequence of that construction method and design technique turning the focus of its audience toward the heavens.  

   
Photograph 7: Decorative scissors trusses 
with stained, tongue-and-groove ceiling in 
interior of Parish Hall.  Photo by Hunter 
Fuentes, Historic Laguna.  Not for 
publication. 

Photograph 8:  Church sanctuary, view 
toward narthex. Note the darker glulam 
arches as well as the natural wood ceiling 
finish and the glass endwall.  Photo by Hunter 
Fuentes, Historic Laguna.  Not for publication. 

Photograph 9:  Church under construction.  
Glulam arches were carefully wrapped 
during building process and positioned in 
the concrete foundation, unknown date.  
“Building Structures to Serve a Higher 
Purpose” Laguna Beach Independent. March 1, 
2018. 

The glulam arches are stained, dark wood, which contrast sharply with the natural wood, tongue-and-groove ceiling that wraps to 
the upper walls in wide, continuous curves. The overall impression is warm, inviting and organic.  The glass endwall at the 
narthex features a wide, opaque, central bay, that is the same width as the impressive, nearly full-length skylight. That bay is set on 
glass double doors and is pierced by quatrefoil-shaped openings set in a random arrangement evoking bright bursts of stars in the 
night sky.  The scale of the wall of glass is reduced visually by a pattern of rectangular, amber glass that reinforces human scale to 
the vast interior space.   
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 B10. Significance: Continued from page 9   In both the Parish Hall and the Church, suspended pendants provide additional 
lighting.  The lamps in the Parish Hall are contemporary and seem to float in the space.  Conversely, the more traditional, Gothic-
influenced light fixtures in the Church are stepped and multi-sided, with ivory lenses which provide diffused light to the 
sanctuary (Photographs 7 and 8).  Throughout the complex and in keeping with the practical values of the larger Congregational 
church, simple glass window “lights” (panes of glass) are single colors even in the leaded glass, rather than the representational 
stained glass window subject matter found in more traditional ecclesiastical buildings.  
The Church cornerstone was laid in the summer of 1962 (“Neighborhood Congregational Church to Hold Cornerstone 
Ceremonies” The Laguna Beach Post. July 5, 1962).  When it opened in early 1963, Pastor Emeritus Gregory (1886-1974) who had 
originally chosen St. Clair to design the complex, offered the opening prayer.  Wood panels over the double doors representing the 
12 apostles and symbols in the interior were gifts from the Woman’s Fellowship.  The panels were carved by Mogens Abel (1915-
1990), part of a Laguna Beach multi-generational family that was, and continue to be, branches of the local fine art and 
architectural communities (since the late 1930s).  Mr. Abel immigrated from Denmark, arriving in Laguna Beach in 1937.  He was 
commissioned to craft wood “welcome” signs for the community that became arrival symbols of the artistic community.  He not 
only exhibited his work but served on the Board of Directors and as a grounds manager for the Festival of the Arts and the Pageant 
of the Masters (Edan Hughes. Artists in California, 1786-1940. (Raleigh: Hughes Publishing Co.) 1986 and 1989).  Additional interior 
panels were carved by Harold Eckman, who was a member of the Board of Trustees at the time.  The original landscape, including 
the courtyard was implemented by George Carpenter.  The parking lot was expanded, probably toward the northeast, to 
accommodate 100 additional parking spaces.  The total cost for the Church and other improvements increased by 40 percent from 
the original estimate including the art and furnishings (ibid and “Church Dedication Ceremonies Feb. 3” South Coast News. January 
29, 1963).  
The Montessori School of Laguna Beach was established at the subject property in 1975. Its enrollment began with just five 
children, but it has expanded to more than 75 students at present (Deepa Somasundaram. “A Heartfelt Note From Deepa 
Somasundaram, Director of the Montessori School of Laguna Beach” no date). The school occupies the Parsonage and may 
encompass other areas of the Parish House.  The Montessori Method is “a child-centered approach that encourages self-directed 
learning through hands-on activities and collaborative play” (Charlotte Ruhl. “Montessori Theory of Education” at “Simply 
Psychology” February 2, 2024). The painted, dog-eared fence that surrounds the school’s play areas was added at an unknown 
date, but does not reduce the integrity of the property’s significance, partly because the walls are additive and can be removed 
without damaging the buildings.  
Like most congregational churches, the Neighborhood Congregational Church has been outspoken on political and civil rights 
issues. Laguna Beach notably adopted a domestic partnership ordinance in 1992.  It is said that the Reverend Tari Lennon (1934-
2011) may have conducted the first gay marriage ceremony in Laguna Beach at NCC.  Significant fire damage to the Church roof 
and interior occurred in 1995, which some believe may have been a political statement, but an absolute connection between gay 
marriage and the fire has not been made (Chin-Ching Ni. “Laguna Church Roof Damaged in Fire” Los Angeles Times. April 24, 
1995).  The first such legal marriage in the nation was in Massachusetts 2004 (Andrew Glass. “First Same-Sex Marriage in U.S.” 
Politico. May 17, 2018).  The first legal marriage licenses issued to same sex couples in California took place during a brief period in 
2008. That significant right to marriage was not legally confirmed until 2013.  
A non-contributing feature to the Neighborhood Congregational Church property is the “Coast to Canyon” artist tile installation 
on the retaining wall facing Glenneyre.  It was designed in 2018 and installed under supervision of Mike Tauber with support from 
LOCA Arts Education, Mark Porterfield and Steve Chadima.  The embellished art wall was completed long after the Church, 
which was the last contributing feature to the property was completed in 1963. 

The subject property retains sufficient integrity of its original distinctive Minimal Traditional, Tudor Revival and Mid-Century 
Modern, Expressionist/Organic designs.  Its location has not been changed.  The immediate setting is as it was designed, although 
the parking lot was enlarged to include additional parking more single-family homes have been built in its surrounding area since 
early 1960s. The distinctive exterior materials for each of the three building remain intact. The original workmanship in those 
materials remains tangible and evident.   One minor compatible addition was the installation of the custom-designed, stepped 
cross that faces St. Ann’s on the central Church bay (1982).  The aesthetic or historic sense of the late 1940s through the early 1960s 
remains clear in the each of the distinctive buildings and in the collective complex. The presence of those original physical features, 
including the bold shape, canted walls, and materials of the Church, which taken together, clearly convey the property's historic 
character or feeling.  Likewise, in the visible design, the subject property retains its direct connections between the Parsonage, 
Parish Hall and the Church with the property. The complex retains the direct associations because the buildings and the immediate 
setting, which are sufficiently intact to convey that relationship to observers. Like feeling, its association requires the presence of 
the physical features that convey the property's historic character.  
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B10. Significance: Continued from page 10   The property’s boundaries are those historically associated with Orange County Tax 
Assessor’s Property Number 644-034-05 since at least 1963.   

The Neighborhood Congregational Church property has not been previously evaluated for historic significance.  The Laguna 
Beach Historic Survey was limited to properties completed before 1940 (1981).  The Neighborhood Congregational Church 
property is eligible for listing in both the California Register of Historical Resources and in the Laguna Beach Historic Register. 

Its California Register eligibility is based in its design significance, under Criterion 3. The Neighborhood Congregational Church 
property represents a window in time: a continuum that commenced in after World War II, when the congregation was 
established above the Sand Piper Bar (also designed by St. Clair as the Smith Construction Company/Builders Guild Building at 
1183 South Coast Highway, 1937, locally designated).  The period of significance ended in 1963 with the completion of the Mid-
Century Modern, Organic/Expressionist style Church designed by Blurock et al.  The three buildings on the Neighborhood 
Congregational Church property embody the distinctive characteristics of three architecture types: Minimal Traditional, Tudor 
Revival and Mid-Century Modern with Organic/Expressionist-influences, the Cold War period, the southern California region, 
the glulam material and engineering methods of Church construction, and represent the work of two important creative 
individuals: Aubrey St. Clair and Bill Blurock and possess extraordinary artistic values in the still-extant Mogens Abel and Harold 
Eckman wood carvings (Criterion 3). 

The Neighborhood Congregational Church property is a group of related, contributing buildings which qualify under five of the 
local Historic Register criteria, (C)(3), (5), (6), (7) and (9).  In the City of Laguna Beach Code of Ordinances, in Title 25 Zoning, 
Chapter 24.45 Historic Preservation, Section 25.45.006, under “Historic register designation, criteria, and procedures…”it directs 
that the property “exemplifies the cultural… social or historical heritage of the community” (Criterion 3).  The subject property 
was directly associated with the spiritual, communal, collaborative educational and historical development of Laguna Beach. The 
Neighborhood Congregational Church property “is representative of the work of… [two] …notable architects, [a pair of local] 
artist[s] including those of local importance” (Criterion 5).  As former residents, both Aubrey St. Clair and Bill Blurock are 
considered to be local architects, whose substantial bodies of work influenced the built environment of Laguna Beach and the 
southern California region.  In addition, Mogens Abels’ fine art wood carving and signs were especially significant in establishing 
the character of Laguna Beach as an artist enclave.  The Neighborhood Congregational Church complex “embodies distinguishing 
architectural characteristics of… [at least three design styles [Minimal Traditional, Tudor Revival and Mid-Century Modern with 
Expressionist/Organic-influences], [religious building] type[s], [the Cold War time] period… that exemplify [the] particular 
architectural style[s that are] important to the [established village atmosphere of the] City” (Criterion 6). Under Criterion 7, the 
Church “embodies elements that represent a significant structural, engineering, or architectural achievement or innovation.” The 
use of glulam technology enabled the implementation of the versatile “engineered wood” construction.  It notably has interior 
exposed, in-wall structural application that was central to the structural engineering for the complex, open building. The glulam 
arches were purpose-designed for the Church project at a time when that technology was still reasonably experimental.  The 
complex “is [a] …remaining example… in the City [of Laguna Beach that possesses], distinguishing characteristics of [Period 
Revival with Mid-Century Modern} architectural importance” (Criterion 9).  
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William Blurock Mid-Century Modern Church on left, 
Aubrey St. Clair Bridge (Parish) Hall, Tudor Revival, on right with bellcote

Bellcote of  Bridge Hall



Philip  E. Gregory Patio, with breezeway beyond that joins the two major buildings.

East side of Bridge Hall with the exterior of the Library at left..



North side, with Parsonage (Montessori School) at left, Bridge Hall and Sanctuary

Tudor Revival detailing of Bridge Hall.



Tudor Revival detailing of Bridge Hall.

Stained glass  on the north side of the Sanctuary flanked by
entrance doors and carvings of symbols of the twelve apostles.
Glass panels donated by Bette Davis in memory of her mother.



Parish (Bridge) Hall rendering of St. Clair’s design

Bridge Hall under construction circa 1949



Library at Bridge Hall, Hunter Fuentes photo

Truss detail of Bridge Hall ceiling, Hunter Fuentes photo
























